ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 24 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DESMOND GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000726

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the testimonial, non-emergent dispatch calls with the alleged victim where their admission violated the Confrontation Clause and, and even if non-testimonial, the statements did not fall under any hearsay exception?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting a portion of the officer's body camera recording where the statements did not fall under any hearsay exception and were irrelevant?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict where the State failed to present any evidence of the *corpus delicti* of criminal domestic violence aside from Green's alleged admission and where the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed criminal domestic violence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 29, 2015, the Beaufort County grand jury indicted Appellant Desmond Green for one count of criminal domestic violence, third offense. R. 110.

On March 25, 2015, Green proceeded to trial before the Honorable George C. James and a jury. Green was represented by Jessica Saxon and Arie Bax, and the State was represented by Hunter Swanson and Bryan Holland. R. 30 – 31.

Green was found guilty as charged. R. 108, ll. 1-3. Judge James sentenced Green to four years of incarceration. R. 109, ll. 12-14.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court erred in admitting the testimonial, non-emergent dispatch calls with the alleged victim where their admission violated the Confrontation Clause and, and even if non-testimonial, the statements did not fall under any hearsay exception.**

#### Introduction

Green was convicted of criminal domestic violence, third offense, against Chyvonne Michelle Robinson. R. 110; R. 108, ll. 1-3. Robinson did not testify at Green's trial.<sup>1</sup> Thus, the only evidence that the State presented was the non-emergent dispatch telephone calls allegedly made by Robinson, a portion of the police officer body camera recording, photographs of Robinson taken at the scene, and two recorded "jail calls" placed by Green while at the county detention center. The trial judge denied the majority of defense counsel's motion in limine and overruled her objections to admission of the State's evidence during trial. The trial court also denied the motion for directed verdict, despite characterizing the State's case as being "held together with paper clips" and finding it to be "one of the weakest, if not the weakest case that [he had] ever let go to a jury." R. 48, ll. 9-10; R. 96, ll. 20-21; R. 97, ll. 1-3.

#### Relevant Facts

Over defense counsel's objection, the State introduced the non-emergent dispatch call allegedly placed by Robinson on the night of the alleged incident, and the return call

---

<sup>1</sup> The solicitor indicated that the victim had "constantly informed [the solicitor's] office that she has no desire to pursue any of these charges" and that they were unsuccessful in their attempts to subpoena her. R. 6, l. 6 - 7, l. 6; R. 42, ll. 12-18. The solicitor did not argue that Robinson's failure to appear was procured by any wrongdoing on Green's part, thus he did not forfeit his Confrontation right. See Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S.Ct. 2266 (2006).

made by dispatch back to that telephone number. R. 57, l. 24 – 58, l. 10. The following exchange occurred in the first call to dispatch:

**DISPATCHER:** Communications, Alice.

**CALLER:** Uh, yes, how you doin'?

**DISPATCHER:** I'm fine and you?

**CALLER:** Alright. I have a question?

**DISPATCHER:** Okay.

**CALLER:** How can I get somebody from my house that have [sic] a trespassing notice on them?

**DISPATCHER:** Are they there now?

**CALLER:** Yes?

**DISPATCHER:** What's your address? Hello, m'am? M'am? Hello?

State's Exhibit 1 ("911" call).<sup>2</sup> Dispatch then dialed the number back and the following exchange occurred:

**CALLER:** Hello.

**DISPATCHER:** Yes, you just called in to dispatch?

**CALLER:** Um, yes, is there any way an officer can come out to my house?

**DISPATCHER:** Yes, we already have them on the way. What's going on?

**CALLER:** Um, me and my baby daddy having problems. He ain't [sic] even supposed to be here and I need them to escort him from here.

**DISPATCHER:** Okay; what is his name?

**CALLER:** Desmond Green.

**DISPATCHER:** Is he white, black or Hispanic?

---

<sup>2</sup> State's Exhibit 1 is on file with this Court.

State's Exhibit 1 ("911" call). The third call went to voicemail.

Defense counsel argued that the calls were not related to any on-going emergency and were testimonial hearsay. Counsel noted that the call was to a non-emergent dispatch line regarding a trespass and the caller sounded calm and hung up twice. The solicitor argued that the questions being asked by the dispatcher were not "for the purposes of this trial" but rather to determine if there was an emergency. He further argued that the statements fell under the "present sense impression" exception to the hearsay rule. R. 29, ll. 1-25; R. 34, l. 23 – 40, l. 24.

While the trial judge required defense counsel to make contemporaneous objections, his preliminary ruling was that the dispatch calls were nontestimonial. He found that "a reasonable person in her position would [not] expect those statements would ever [have] been recorded as testimony in any type of proceeding." R. 43, l. 15 – 44, l. 3; R. 47, ll. 1-7. Though he found that the statements were hearsay, offered for the truth of the matter asserted, the judge determined that they fell under the present sense impression exception. R. 44, ll. 4-17. The trial court overruled the contemporaneous objection made when the recording of the calls was offered into evidence. R. 57, l. 24 – 58, l. 10.

## **Discussion**

### ***Testimonial Statements***

The alleged victim's statements to the dispatch operator were testimonial because they were not made to address an ongoing emergency. The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV; see also S.C. CONST. ART. I, §14. In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 53–54, 124 S.Ct.

1354, 1365 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that this provision bars “admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.”

In Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 2273-74 (2006), the Court provided guidance on how to determine whether a statement is testimonial, holding:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

Though the Davis Court ultimately determined that the 911 call in that case was nontestimonial, it recognized that “one *might* call 911 to provide a narrative report of a crime **absent any imminent danger.**” Id. at 827, 126 S.Ct. at 2276 (emphasis added). Thus, the Davis Court did not hold that *all* 911 calls are nontestimonial. Further, the Court warned against vitiating constitutional guarantees because they may result in “allowing the guilty to go free.” Id. at 833, 126 S.Ct. at 2280.

In the present case, the call was placed to non-emergent dispatch regarding a possible violation of a no trespass order. The caller began by asking the dispatcher how she was doing and stated that she was “**alright.**” She then told the dispatcher that she had a question. There was no urgency in her voice. In the second, return call, the caller answered the phone “hello” and indicated that she and her “baby daddy” were “**having problems**” and she wanted him “escorted” from the property. State’s Exhibit 1 (“911” call). There was no “cry for help” and the call did not show the same immediacy of the call in

Davis. See Davis, 547 U.S. at 832, 126 S.Ct. at 2279. The caller expressed irritability with the trespasser, not an emergency. Thus, the statements were testimonial, even if there admission would have initially been intended for use at a hearing for contempt or trespass.

***No Applicable Hearsay Exception***

Assuming *arguendo* that the statements to the dispatch operator were nontestimonial, they were hearsay. The trial court erred in finding that the present sense impression to the rule against hearsay was applicable.

Rule 803(1), SCRE, defines a “present sense impression” as “[a] statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.” “There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct.App.2014).

In the first call, the statement to the dispatch operator that the caller had “a question” and subsequent question “how can I get somebody from my house that have [sic] a trespassing notice on them” were not descriptions or explanations of any event or condition. At most the victim’s statement that she was “alright” and response “yes” to whether “they were there now” were the only the portions of the first call that amounted to a description of a condition.

Regarding the second call, the caller’s first statement was a question whether there was any way an officer could come out to her house, which did not describe or explain an event. Even if her statement “me and my baby daddy having problems” was a description

of a contemporaneous event, the subsequent response, based on her prior knowledge, that “his name” was “Desmond Green” was not.

***Prejudice to Appellant***

In light of the inapplicability of any hearsay exception, the Court must evaluate whether Green was prejudiced by the admission of the improper hearsay evidence. See State v. Borroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 502, 492 S.E.2d 408, 414 (Ct. App. 1997). The solicitor encouraged the jury to draw inferences from and speculate about the little evidence that it had against Green without the alleged victim’s testimony. R. 100, l. 12 – 103, l. 12. Despite a lack of evidence as to the identity of the caller, the solicitor argued that Robinson made the dispatch call. R. 102, ll. 12-13. Further, it was only in the call to dispatch that the caller referenced Green, which allowed the officer to say that he developed Green as a suspect. R. 75, ll. 6-18. The State also relied on the use of the phrase “baby daddy” as evidence that Green was a “household member” of the alleged victim. R. 20, l. 21 – 21, l. 9; R. 34, l. 21 – 35, l. 5; see S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-25-20. Without the admission of this improper evidence the State would not have been able to prove the “household member” element of criminal domestic violence.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> The solicitor sought to admit the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) report and Computer Application on Public Safety (CAPS) report, which were generated in relation to the dispatch call. The trial court sustained defense counsel’s objection to the reports, thus the only admitted evidence of the household member status was the use of the term “baby daddy” in the dispatch call and there was no admitted evidence to indicate that the alleged victim, Robinson, was the caller. R. 34, l. 21 – 35, l. 5; R. 59, l. 8 – 68, l. 5.

## II.

**The trial court erred in admitting a portion of the officer's body camera recording where the statements did not fall under any hearsay exception and was irrelevant.**

### Relevant Facts

The Court admitted a portion of the body camera recording from the night of the alleged incident. The video was poorly lit but showed the officers and the alleged victim approach each other in the driveway or yard next to a trailer. Once the audio turned on, the officers asked the alleged victim if "he" was inside. She responded "No, he took off running down the road." State's Ex. 2 (Body camera video).<sup>4</sup> The officer admitted that the initial call was for an escort for trespassing but said it "developed" into a criminal domestic violence call. R. 22, ll. 1-20.

Based on the solicitor's averments during the pre-trial motions hearings, the remainder of the video was not played because it was conceded to be testimonial.<sup>5</sup> R. 19, ll. 1-21; R. 24, ll. 6-11; R. 25, ll. 13-21; R. 33, l. 10 – 34, l. 5; R. 45, l. 8 – 46, l. 18; R. 47, l. 11 – 48, l. 2.

Defense counsel argued that the portion of the video the State sought to introduce was irrelevant and meant to "inflame the passions of the jury." R. 24, ll. 14-21. The solicitor argued that video "set the stage" and showed that the victim was distraught, crying, and bleeding when police arrived. He also argued that the jury could infer flight from the statement "he ran off down the road." R. 24, l. 22 – 26, l. 4; R. 100, ll. 19-21. In response

---

<sup>4</sup> State's Exhibit 2 is on file with this Court.

<sup>5</sup> Appellate counsel estimates that the admitted portion of Exhibit 2, the body camera video, was from 00:26:29 (the beginning) until 00:27:54.

to the trial court's questions of why the statements were not hearsay, the solicitor responded that it was information "learned in the course of his [the officer's] investigation." R. 45, l. 8 – 46, l. 18.

During the initial pre-trial motions hearing, the trial court found that "the bod mi[c] stuff doesn't implicate the Defendant." He noted that the solicitor was using the jail calls to circumstantially link Green to the alleged incident. R. 28, ll. 15-19. Nonetheless, over defense counsel's objection, the trial court admitted the portion of the body camera video that the solicitor sought to introduce. R. 73, l. 2 – 74, l. 9.

### **Discussion**

The solicitor claimed to have two purposes in introducing the body camera video, to establish that the victim was distraught, crying, and bleeding, and to evidence flight. The obvious underlying purpose was to allow the jurors a chance to see the uncooperative victim whose testimony the solicitor was unable to procure for trial. Neither the solicitor nor the trial court identified what exception the hearsay statements in the video fell under. The statement "he took off running down the road" was not a present sense impression because it described a past event. See Rule 803(1), SCRE. It was also not an excited utterance because the alleged victim was not under excitement or stress from the person running away. See Rule 803(2), SCRE.

Further, the video was not relevant, as even the trial court found that it did not implicate Green. See R. 28, ll. 15-19; Rules 401 and 402, SCRE. While the solicitor mentioned "he ran off down the road" in his closing argument, he never argued to the jury that such was evidence of flight. R. 100, ll. 19-21; R. 98, ll. 13-22; R. 25, ll. 14-16. Such argument would likely have been improper because, with the sparse evidence presented, the

State failed to show that “the totality of the evidence create[d] an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.” State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 655, 623 S.E.2d 122, 128 (2005).

While an uncooperative victim is frustrating, it does not allow the admission of otherwise improper evidence. Here, the solicitor improperly sought to cure its “missing witness” problem by introducing hearsay evidence that contained irrelevant, prejudicial information.

### III.

**The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict where the State failed to present any evidence of the *corpus delecti* of criminal domestic violence aside from Green's alleged admission and where the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed criminal domestic violence.**

#### Relevant Facts

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel made a motion for directed verdict. Defense counsel reiterated its arguments that much of the State's evidence was inadmissible, but added that the State failed to connect the information. She noted that the State failed to offer any proof of who made the call to dispatch, requiring an assumption on the part of the jury that the call was placed by Robinson. Further, the State failed to offer any proof that Green was a household member other than the dispatch call referencing him as the caller's "baby daddy." While the first jail call also referenced a need to "take care of the kids," it did not identify to whom those children belonged. R. 89, l. 2 – 91, l. 1; R. 94, l. 17 – 95, l. 6; State's Ex. 3, Jail Calls (call #1).<sup>6</sup>

In the second jail, Green said "Listen, listen. Remember when I said I hit her in the head with that chair? That's, that's – and I, I, I ended up getting robbed last night, right?" State's Ex. 3, Jail Calls (call #8).<sup>7</sup> Defense counsel argued that the State failed to

---

<sup>6</sup> State's Exhibit 3 is on file with this Court.

<sup>7</sup> The solicitor was unable to provide a redacted copy of the jail call CD to be put into evidence. Instead he played only two of the nine calls on the disc and muted the references to Green being charged with a third offense and the third party statement's "You got charged for being around Michelle [Robinson]" and "You had a CDV charge for being around somebody that you ain't supposed to be around." Based on the discussions and argument in the record, appellate counsel avers that the first (-015936) and eighth (-172122) calls were those played for the jury. It was not clear whether Green's statements about what he read in the police report were played. See R. 4, l. 10 – 6, l. 21; R. 44, l. 18 – 45, l. 8; R. 49, ll. 11-16; R. 85, ll. 2-12; R. 101, l. 2 – 102, l. 5.

corroborate Green's statement by proof of the *corpus delecti*, such that that Green was entitled to a directed verdict. R. 91, ll. 2-20; see also R. 9, ll. 7-13. She concluded by stating that "everything is circumstantial and the law requires substantial circumstantial evidence." R. 92, ll. 15-16.

The solicitor argued that the *corpus delecti* was shown by the photographs, body camera video, testimony from the responding officer, and call to the dispatcher. He admitted that the case was "largely" circumstantial, but cited the jail calls as direct evidence of guilt. The solicitor argued that in addition to the jail calls: "[W]e can put Mr. Green at the scene with the victim. We can put the victim injured. We can put her saying he ran off down the road. We can put Lance Corporal Breland saying that he developed Mr. Green as a suspect." R. 92, l. 18 – 94, l. 14.

The trial court denied the motion for directed verdict. The judge said that "were it not for the phone calls from the jail, this case would be dismissed." The other evidence, the judge said, provided "bits and pieces" that amounted to only "mere suspicion." The court found that in the first phone call Green told Robinson to "make something up" and tell the judge they were robbed.<sup>8</sup> The trial judge then moved on to the second call, made to an unknown female, and determined that the jury could conclude that Green said "You know when I told you that I hit her in the head with that chair." R. 95, l. 11 – 96, l. 12.

---

<sup>8</sup> The solicitor corrected the judge's misunderstanding that Green was asking the alleged victim to say that the injury occurred in a robbery. Rather, Green was robbed on the night before or of his arrest on November 12<sup>th</sup>, almost one month after the alleged incident. He was asking Robinson to tell the judge that they could not afford to post bond due to the robbery. See State's Ex. 3, Jail Calls (call #1).

The trial court ruled:

**I think the case is held together with paper clips.** But what I've got to decide is whether or not there's direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to conclude that he committed this offense. I don't know what the jury is going to do, but I'm going to allow the jury to resolve that question because **this is probably one of the weakest, if not the weakest case that I've ever let go to a jury.** But I still think there's enough there.

R. 96, l. 20 – 97, l. 3 (emphasis added). The defense did not present any evidence and renewed all of her prior objections and motions. R. 99, ll. 11-17.

### Discussion

#### *i. Directed Verdict should have been granted pursuant to the Corroboration Rule.*

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