ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-000726

MAY 13 2016
SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Desmond Green,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court properly found the recording of the victim's call to dispatch seeking law enforcement assistance was non-testimonial and a present sense impression. The recording was not hearsay and its admission did not violate the Confrontation Clause.
- II. The trial court properly found the recording from the officer's body microphone was not hearsay. Further, any argument regarding relevance is not preserved for review on appeal.
- III. The trial court properly found the State presented sufficient evidence to corroborate Appellant's statements during the recorded jail calls. Further, the State presented ample evidence warranting the court's decision to send the case to the jury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly found the recording of the victim's call to dispatch seeking law enforcement assistance was non-testimonial and a present sense impression. The recording was not hearsay and its admission did not violate the Confrontation Clause.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the victim's call to dispatch seeking law enforcement assistance to have Appellant removed from her property because he was violating a trespass notice and they were "having problems." He asserts the admission of the calls violated the Confrontation Clause because the victim did not testify at trial. Further, he maintains the calls were inadmissible hearsay. The admission of the calls did not violate the Confrontation Clause because they were non-testimonial in nature. Finally, the calls were a clear present sense impression by the victim, and so met an exception to the hearsay rule under Rule 803, SCRE.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

Confrontation Clause

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. The constitutional right to confront and cross examine witnesses is essential to a fair trial in that it promotes reliability in criminal trials and insures that convictions will not result from testimony of individuals who cannot be challenged at trial. State v. Martin, 292 S.C. 437, 439, 357

S.E.2d 21, 22 (1987) (citing California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149 (1970); State v. LaBarge, 275 S.C. 168, 268 S.E.2d 278 (1980)).

The United States Supreme Court (USSC) explained the Confrontation Clause “applies to ‘witnesses’ against the accused—in other words, those who ‘bear testimony.’” Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51 (2004). The Court then defined testimony as “[a] solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact.” Id.

Crawford prohibits the admission of testimonial, out-of-court statements unless two conditions are met: the witness is unavailable at trial and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. The USSC further articulated: “Where nontestimonial hearsay is at issue, it is wholly consistent with the Framers’ design to afford the States flexibility in their development of hearsay law.” As a result, the Court “exempted [nontestimonial] statements from Confrontation Clause scrutiny altogether.” Id. Only testimonial statements “cause the declarant to be a ‘witness’ within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause.” Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821 (2006) (citing Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51). “It is the testimonial character of the statement that separates it from other hearsay that, while subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence, is not subject to the Confrontation Clause.” Id.

In Davis, 547 U.S. 813 (2006), the USSC announced the “primary purpose” test for determining whether an out-of-court statement is testimonial in nature. The Court explained statements are testimonial where their primary purpose “is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.” Id., at 822. This is an objective consideration and not based on the subjective intents involved. Id. at 826. In

Michigan v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344 (2011), the USSC further expounded on the primary purpose test, indicating the Court must consider “all of the relevant circumstances.” Id. at 369. The Court found where an out-of-court statement’s primary purpose is “to create a record for trial” or “creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony” then the statement is testimonial and falls within the requirements of Crawford and the Confrontation Clause.

In Ohio v. Clark, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 2173 (2015), the USSC explained: “Our Confrontation Clause decisions . . . do not determine whether a statement is testimonial by examining whether a jury would view the statement as the equivalent of in-court testimony.” Id. at 2183. The Court stated: “We have never suggested . . . that the Confrontation Clause bars the introduction of all out-of-court statements that support the prosecution’s case. Instead, we ask whether a statement was given with the ‘primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony.’” Id. (citing Bryant, 562 U.S. at 358).

The USSC’s opinion in Davis is clearly instructive in this case. In Davis, an individual called 911 to report an ongoing situation. The Court found the difference between the facts of Crawford, where the statements were found to be testimonial, and Davis, where the 911 call was found to be non-testimonial, were “apparent on the face of things.” Davis, 547 U.S. at 827. The Court noted some of the significant differences, adding specific emphasis to the fact in Davis the call “was speaking about events *as they were actually happening*, rather than ‘describ[ing] past events.’” Id. (Emphasis in original) (citations omitted). The Court explained the call was one for help, and not to provide “provide a narrative report of a crime.” Id. The Court articulated:

[T]he nature of what was asked and answered in Davis, again viewed objectively, was such that the elicited statements were necessary to be able to resolve the present emergency, rather than simply to learn (as in Crawford) what had happened in the past. That is true even of the operator's effort to establish the identity of the assailant, so that the dispatched officers might know whether they would be encountering a violent felon.

Id. The USSC succinctly summarized Davis' call: "**She was seeking aid, not telling a story about the past.**" Id. at 831 (emphasis added).

At the same time as Davis, the USSC considered the companion case of Hammon v. Indiana. The Court found the statements, made after all events had ended, were testimonial in nature. The USSC explained the questioning was "seeking to determine (as in Davis) 'what is happening,' but rather 'what happened.' Objectively viewed, the primary, if not indeed the sole, purpose of the interrogation was to investigate a possible crime." Davis, 547 U.S. at 830. The Court noted the victim's "statements deliberately recounted, in response to police questioning, how potentially criminal past events began and progressed. And both took place some time after the events described were over." Id. The USSC concluded: "Such statements under official interrogation are an obvious substitute for live testimony, because they do precisely *what a witness does* on direct examination; they are inherently testimonial." Id. (Emphasis in original).

Appellant seems to make significance out of the fact the victim is not yelling and screaming in a life threatening emergency during her phone call, and argues because it is not such a situation her statements become testimonial. The question to determine whether a statement is testimonial or non-testimonial is not the nature of the emergency the person faced at the time, but the purpose of the statement. If the statement is to describe a past event, give details of a crime, and serve in lieu of live testimony, the

statement is testimonial. If the purpose is to seek assistance and to provide direction to emergency responders regarding a presently occurring event, the statement is clearly non-testimonial. As the Fifth Circuit has observed: “Accordingly, the fact that the 911 calls were ‘neither a cry for help nor the provision of information enabling officers immediately to end a threatening situation,’ does not necessarily render the declarant’s statements testimonial.” United States v. Polidore, 690 F.3d 705, 716 (5th Cir. 2012).

The victim’s statement in the instant case indubitably described a presently occurring event. Further, it is clear she is upset and in need of assistance based on the tone of her voice, particularly after the call back by the dispatcher. Her statement sought law enforcement assistance in removing an individual from her property and explained to the dispatcher that they were “having problems.” (State’s Exhibit 1) The victim in the recorded call never indicated she was describing a past situation as opposed to a present, ongoing situation in which she clearly believed she needed law enforcement assistance.¹ Her recorded statements were not those of a witness testifying on direct examination, but instead were the statements of someone under the present stress of a situation seeking law enforcement aid.

The questions by the dispatcher and answers on the recorded phone call were necessary to determine the nature and extent of the ongoing situation. The questions included whether the individual needing to be removed from the premises was still present, what was happening during the ongoing situation, and identifying the individual the police would encounter upon their arrival. All of this information, as in the questions described in Davis, was designed to determine the situation and not to prove facts for use

¹ She specifically asks during the call back to have an officer come to her house and escort Appellant from the premises because they were “having problems.” (State’s Exhibit 1).

at trial. The dispatcher needed to determine the nature of the situation, the parties involved, and whether it was still ongoing. She also needed to determine whether things escalated after the first hang-up occurred and then identified the individual so the responding officers would know who they were confronting. All of this information is necessary to investigate and address the ongoing situation and not for purposes of establishing a record for trial. Further, it is clear the “investigation” was not a formal questioning as present in Crawford, but more informal in the nature of the exchange found non-testimonial in Davis. See e.g., Bryant, 562 U.S. at 366 (USSC found both an ongoing emergency and the informality of the exchange to be important factors in determining the primary purpose of a statement). As a result, the recorded call was non-testimonial in nature and did not attempt to provide the testimony of a witness. Accordingly, the recorded call was properly admitted by the trial court.

Hearsay

Appellant contends the recorded calls, even if non-testimonial, were inadmissible hearsay. The calls fall under the present sense impression exception found in Rule 803(1), SCRE, and were therefore admissible.

Pursuant to Rule 801 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, hearsay is defined as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801, SCRE. Hearsay testimony is not admissible except as provided by the Rules of Evidence or statute. Rule 802, SCRE. One such exception is for a present sense impression under Rule 803(1), SCRE. A present sense impression is defined as “[a] statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or

condition, or immediately thereafter.” Rule 803(1). This Court has enunciated three elements for a determination of whether a statement qualifies as a present sense impression: “(1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014). Emergency calls occurring at the time of an event or emergency situation have generally been held to be present sense impressions or excited utterances. See e.g., Navarrete v. California, — U.S. —, 134 S.Ct. 1683, 1689 (2014); State v. Robinson, 359 P.3d 874 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015); State v. Green, 174 So. 3d 714, 719 (La. App. Ct. 2015); Browning v. Hickman, 776 S.E.2d 142, 150 (W.Va. 2015); Owens v. State, 765 S.E.2d 653, 656 (Ga. Ct. App. 2014).

All three elements are present in the dispatch calls made by the victim in this case. The victim indicates she needs to have someone removed from her house and that the person is still there. Later on, she requests law enforcement assistance to her house. The victim indicates she and her “baby daddy” are “having problems” indicating the event is still ongoing. Additionally, she says “ain’t even supposed to be here” also suggesting he was presently at the house. She finally asks for officers to come out to her house to escort Appellant away. (State’s Exhibit 1)

The calls describe or explain an event, the victim and Appellant “having problems” and her current need to have him removed from her property. The calls are made contemporaneous with the event because she indicates they are ongoing and she is in current need of law enforcement assistance to have him removed. Finally, it is clear the victim calling dispatch perceives the event as she explains in the phone call that she is

one of the parties to the “problems” occurring. As a result, the calls qualify as a present sense impression, and the trial court properly found they fell into the exception to the hearsay rule. Accordingly, the recorded dispatch calls were properly admitted into evidence to be considered by the jury.

II. The trial court properly found the recording from the officer's body microphone was not hearsay. Further, any argument regarding relevance is not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing a portion of the recording from an officer's in car camera and body microphone to be admitted into evidence. Appellant contends the statements made in the recording are inadmissible hearsay and also are not relevant. He never questioned the relevance of the recordings at trial so the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. The recordings are part of an excited utterance emanating from the aftermath of Appellant's battery of the victim, and therefore, were admissible under an exception to hearsay.

Preservation

First, any issue raised regarding the relevance of the recordings is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant specifically objected on the basis of hearsay as well as the confrontation clause. (T.95-96; R. 73-74). He never raised relevance, or Rules 401-402, SCRE, as a basis for his objection to the introduction of the recordings. As a result the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (finding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled on by the lower court); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.").

Merits

On the merits, the recordings were properly admitted. The recordings were an excited utterance emanating from the battery of the victim by Appellant. The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed

on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001); see also, State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 123–24, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008) (stating the admission of an excited utterance “is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion”). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

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